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LICENSEE:
The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Nuclear 
Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license.  The inspection consisted of selective examinations of 
procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and observations by the inspector.  The inspection findings are as follows:

1. Based on the inspection findings, no violations were identified.

2. Previous violation(s) closed.

3. The violations(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited violations, are not being cited because they were self-identified, 
non-repetitive, and corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy, to exercise 
discretion, were satisfied.

4.

Non-cited violation(s) were discussed involving the following requirement(s):

During this inspection, certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of NRC requirements and are being 
cited in accordance with NRC Enforcement Policy. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subject to posting in accordance 
with 10 CFR 19.11.
(Violations and Corrective Actions)

Statement of Corrective Actions
I hereby state that, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the Inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified.  This statement of 
corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken, 
date when full compliance will be achieved).  I understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested.
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Terra Site Development, Inc. 
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This was an announced special inspection of a small engineering company authorized to possess portable nuclear 
gauging devices.  At the time of the inspection, the licensee's authorization was limited to storage only until such time 
that a qualified radiation safety officer (RSO) is approved on the license.  The purpose of this inspection was to verify the 
security of the gauges and determine status of the program. 
 
The inspector toured the licensee's facility in Westfield, Indiana and observed that the gauges were secured in storage 
with at least two physical controls that formed tangible barriers.  The licensee possessed one Troxler Model 3440 and 
three Seaman Model C-300-04 portable gauges.  Interviews with the owner of the company indicated that the licensee 
would like to resume licensed activities in the coming months as they have several projects under contract requiring the 
use of the gauges.  The inspector informed the licensee and the licensee acknowledged that the gauges must remain in 
storage until approval is granted to resume licensed activities.  The owner also indicated that the company would be 
moving locations in the next several months and stated that he would submit an amendment request once he has the 
details of the move finalized. 

The licensee submitted an application for renewal to the NRC, including appointment of a new RSO, on June 29, 2020.  
A deemed timely letter was subsequently filed by the NRC on the same day.  The license will continue to operate in 
storage only until a decision is made by the NRC on the approval of the renewal request. 

The next inspection date remains unchanged as a result of this special inspection.  In addition, the previous violations 
identified in NRC Inspection Report 03038010/2016001(DNMS) remain open for review at the next routine inspection 
after the license resumes licensed activities.
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